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INTRODUCTION
At issue in this case are the civil rights of thousands of union members at Yale
University. These union members seek freedom from forced medical examinations, inquiries,
and the collection of genetic information by their employer. Their rights to be free from such
intrusions are enshrined in the American with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and the Genetic
Information Non-Discrimination Act (“GINA”), both of which prohibit employers from
collecting medical or genetic information from employees, unless that information is collected
pursuant to a “voluntary” wellness program. Thus, at the heart of this case is the definition of
“voluntary” under both statutes.
As the Supreme Court recently emphasized, a court’s “duty…is to construe statutes, not
isolated provisions.” King v. Burwell, 135 S. Ct. 2480, 2489 (2014) (internal citations omitted).
Thus, when interpreting statutory terms, one must “bear[] in mind the fundamental canon of
statutory construction that the words of a statute must be read in their context and with a view to
their place in the overall statutory scheme.” Id. at 2492. Plaintiffs adhered to these fundamental
principles in defining the term “voluntary.” The definition they propose—free from coercion,
divorced from financial considerations, and as a matter of genuinely free choice—makes sense in
light of the statutory sentences in which the term appears, the broader statutory contexts, and the
civil rights laws’ protective purposes. Plaintiffs’ approach construes the term “voluntary,” as it
must, within the context and intent of the statutes at issue.
Yale’s approach does not. Instead of aiming to protect the rights of employees, the
University proposes a different definition—“by choice”—that serves another purpose:
protecting “thousands of workplace wellness programs nationally.” Def. Mem. 2. But, it is
employees, not wellness programs, that the civil rights laws are designed to protect. Ignoring this

1
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purpose, Yale urges the Court to adopt its definition of “voluntary,” offering myriad usages of
the term in other areas of the law, from plea bargaining to drug testing to contracting. None of
these examples engage with the text, context, or purpose of the ADA or GINA.
Indeed, Yale fails to offer even a single example of how the term “voluntary” is
understood in the context of work. Yet, perhaps the best example is the University’s own use of
the term “voluntary” in exactly the way Plaintiff proposes here: Yale describes the version of the
Health Expectation Program (“HEP” or the “Program”) that applies to the Yale Police
Benevolent Association as “voluntary” precisely because no financial penalty befalls those who
do not participate. Put simply, docking workers’ pay if they do not comply with a wellness
program means the decision whether to comply is not “voluntary” under any meaningful and
contextual construction of the word.
After its attempts to muddy the definitional waters, Yale drags the Affordable Care Act
(“ACA”) into this case, arguing that it forecloses Plaintiffs’ definition of “voluntary.”
Alternatively, it urges the Court to rely on the invalidated 2016 Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (“EEOC”) regulations, which attempted to define “voluntary.” But, these arguments
were definitively rejected in AARP v. EEOC, 267 F. Supp. 3d 14 (D.D.C. 2017) (hereinafter
AARP I), for reasons that apply with equal force here: the ACA applies to different entities’
actions in a different type of wellness program for different purposes; it does not even address
voluntariness; and, the 2016 regulations failed to take into account any relevant factors when
defining the term.
With regard to GINA specifically, the University does not contest that Plaintiffs have
demonstrated the vast majority of the elements of their claims: the Program includes requests for
genetic information and there is a penalty for noncompliance. In fact, even paying the penalty

2
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will not stop the acquisition of some union members’ genetic information. Nevertheless, Yale
claims that because they are complying with confidentiality protections, they escape GINA
liability, and Plaintiffs do not have standing. That is wrong. GINA protects employees from both
breaches of confidentiality and involuntary requests for genetic information. Yale must satisfy
both protections to avoid liability. Finally, the University claims that Plaintiffs cannot bring a
claim for damages under GINA without alleging “intentional discrimination.” Although there is
no support for this argument in the statute, Yale’s collection of genetic information is intentional
discrimination and therefore supports a damages claim.
ARGUMENT
Yale does not contest that the HEP is an employee wellness program (Docket No. 31,
Rule 26(f) Report 4 ¶¶ 8-9), and nothing in its Motion and Opposition Memorandum disputes
that the Program includes medical examinations and inquiries under the ADA as well as requests
for genetic information under GINA. Consequently, the fundamental dispute underlying the
parties’ cross-motions is the definition of “voluntary” under both statutes. Section I addresses
that definition, which applies to both statutes. Section II addresses the parties’ arguments that are
specific to GINA, including Plaintiffs’ contention that, regardless of the definition of
“voluntary,” they prevail on the portion of their claim involving the automatic and undisclosed
transfer of insurance claims data.
I.

In the Context of the ADA and GINA, “Voluntary” Must Mean Free From
Coercion, Divorced From Financial Consideration, and As a Matter of Genuinely
Free Choice.
Plaintiffs define “voluntary” as free from coercion, divorced from financial consideration,

and as a matter of genuinely free choice. This straightforward definition, which prohibits the use
of financial penalties in connection with a wellness program, is far from “utopian.” Def. Mem.
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19, 27. Instead, it is grounded in the legal assumptions surrounding work and the intent of the
ADA and GINA, two employment statutes designed to protect employees from being forced to
reveal private and sensitive medical and genetic information in the workplace. Not only is this
definition contextually appropriate, it is also administrable. Courts and employers can rely on it
with ease when determining whether a wellness program is “voluntary”: if it includes financial
penalties for non-participation, it is not. This bright line rule provides guidance to employers
while also leaving intact employees’ rights under the statutes.
Yale’s definition of “voluntary”—any act that a person “chooses,” whether or not under
compulsion—effectively reads the term out of the statute. It would permit employers to impose
virtually any punishment on employees, who must then “choose” whether to abandon the civil
rights granted them by Congress. Yale’s acontextual examples of “voluntary” do not save its
definition from this fundamental pitfall. Instead they only underscore that “voluntary” must be
interpreted against the specific legal backdrop in which the term is used. Yale defends its
position by arguing that the HEP was part of a bargain struck by the Unions, and that it has
allowed for “virtually free health care.” Def. Mem. 3. But this view ascribes no value to the
rights bestowed under the ADA and GINA—rights that union members must now pay to
enforce.
In addressing voluntariness, this Section first explains why including a wellness program
in a collective bargaining agreement does not inherently render participation “voluntary” under
the ADA and GINA. It then discusses why the civil rights laws’ text and purpose favor
Plaintiffs’ definition of “voluntary,” and why that definition does not undermine the ACA.
Finally, it explains why both the longstanding and recent administrative landscape support
Plaintiffs’ position.

4
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A.

The Inclusion of a Wellness Program in a Collective Bargaining Agreement
Does Not Render the Wellness Program “Voluntary” Under the ADA and
GINA.

Unions enjoy “broad authority . . . in the negotiation and administration of [the]
collective bargaining contract.” 14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 556 U.S. 247, 255-56 (2009). But,
this “broad authority” is not unfettered, and it “is accompanied by a responsibility of equal
scope.” Id. at 256. “While a union may negotiate its members’ collective rights, such as working
requirements and the right to strike, it is not free to override the individual rights conferred by
Congress.” Chopra v. Display Producers, Inc., 980 F. Supp. 714, 718 (S.D.N.Y. 1997)
(emphasis in original); cf. Hill v. Am. Nat. Can Co., 952 F. Supp. 398, 406 (N.D. Tex. 1996)
(“Moreover, the legislative history of the ADA demonstrates that Congress did not intend for the
rights conferred by its statute to be waived by a union in the collective bargaining process.”).
Here, Yale argues that because the Union “voluntarily” negotiated for the HEP, the
Program is necessarily “voluntary” under the civil rights laws. Def. Mem. 19-22. This sleight of
hand presupposes that is the province of a union, and not the judiciary, to determine what is
permitted by a federal statute. But “voluntary,” like all statutory terms, has an independent
meaning that collective bargaining may not circumvent.
A court reached a similar conclusion in Spoerle v. Kraft Foods Global, Inc., 626 F. Supp.
2d 913, 915-921 (W.D. Wis. 2009). At issue in that case was the definition of the word “clothes”
under Section 203(o) of the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”). Id. at 915. The FLSA excludes
from hours worked any time spent donning and doffing “clothes” if such time is excluded by a
“bona fide” collective bargaining agreement. Id. at 916. The employer argued that the meaning
of “clothes” should be governed by the collective bargaining agreement, so long as it was bona
fide. The court rejected the employer’s argument:

5
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A closer view of defendant’s proposal reveals serious flaws. . . .
Under defendant’s view, once it is determined that the act of
donning and doffing particular articles is not protected by the
collective bargaining agreement, the analysis is complete. In other
words, if the collective bargaining agreement does not require
compensation for donning and doffing, it necessarily means the
articles are “clothes” with the meaning of 203(o).
The problem with this view is that Congress gave no hint in the
statute that the task of interpreting §203(o) should be relegated to
employers or unions. Ordinarily, questions of statutory
construction are the province of the judiciary. . . . Defendant fails
to point to even one other example in which private parties have
binding authority to construe a statute.
Id. (emphasis added).
Yale’s argument here suffers from the same “serious flaws” as the defendant’s in Spoerle.
Yale’s view is that once a collective bargaining agreement provides for a wellness program, that
program is necessarily “voluntary” under the ADA and GINA. “The problem with this view is
that Congress gave no hint” that interpreting the voluntariness provisions of the ADA or GINA
should be relegated to unions and employers. Id. Yale’s position would not only improperly
wrest from the courts the duty to determine whether a wellness program is otherwise “voluntary”
under the ADA and GINA, but it would also effectively override the rights conferred by those
statutes because a union and employer could simply agree to anything.
Instead, to give life to the civil rights laws’ voluntary exceptions, the term “voluntary”
must have some independent legal definition with meaningful limits on what is permitted. In
fact, the statutes’ structures make particularly clear that “voluntary” means more than mere union
assent. Under both the ADA and GINA, unions are subject to the same prohibitions as
employers: they may not impose medical examinations, inquiries, or requests for genetic
information on employees unless they are part of wellness programs and are “voluntary.” 42
U.S.C. § 12111(2) (including labor organizations in “covered entities” subject to ADA
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prohibitions); 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-(3) (labor organization practices prohibited). It logically
follows that there is some independent standard for voluntariness to which unions, like
employers, must adhere. Otherwise, the “voluntary” provisions would be superfluous because
they would automatically bless any examinations and inquiries included in a collective
bargaining agreement, no matter how punitive. The ADA and GINA guard against this result by
prohibiting both employers and unions from subjecting employees to involuntary examinations
and inquiries. The two cannot work together to circumvent this requirement through collective
bargaining. See, e.g., Lee v. City of Moraine Fire Department, No. 3:13-cv-222, 2015 WL
914440, at *12 (S.D. Ohio March 3, 2015) (rejecting the argument that an employer’s wellness
program met the voluntariness requirements of GINA because the plaintiff “signed off on the
CBA.”).
Finally, Yale’s attempt to compare medical examinations, inquiries, and the collection of
genetic information under the ADA and GINA to a collective bargaining agreement’s consent to
drug testing is unavailing. Yale contends that unions can consent to random drug testing of their
members in a collective bargaining agreement, so they can also consent to medical examinations
and inquires under the ADA and GINA. Even if unions have this ability—which is not at all
clear under Second Circuit precedent—the analogy is inapposite. 1 First, employees have no
expectation of privacy when using illegal drugs, and no federal statutory regime protects
employees from involuntary drug screenings. Moreover, the ADA contains clear exceptions for

The Second Circuit never embraced Bolden v. SEPTA, 953 F.2d 807 (3d Cir. 1991) beyond
citing it for limited purposes, in passing, in one unpublished table opinion. See Brown v. N.Y.C.
Transit Auth., 112 F.3d 503 (2d Cir. 1996) (unpublished disposition). In any event, Bolden relied
heavily on Abood v. Detroit Bd. of Educ., 431 U.S. 209 (1977), which the Supreme Court
overruled in Janus v. AFSCME, 138 S.Ct. 2448, 2486 (2018) (holding that employees cannot be
presumed to have waived their First Amendment rights by working in a unit covered by a publicsector CBA and must clearly and affirmatively consent before being required to pay union dues).
1
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drug testing under the ADA: such tests are not covered “medical examinations,” and current
illegal-drug-users are not covered by the statute. 42 U.S.C. § 12114(a) (explaining that a
qualified individual with a disability does not include an employee or applicant currently
engaging in the illegal use of drugs); §12114(d) (“For purposes of this subchapter, a test to
determine the illegal use of drugs shall not be considered a medical examination.”).
Accordingly, inclusion in the collective bargaining agreements does not make the HEP
“voluntary.”
B.

Context Dictates that Plaintiffs’ Interpretation of “Voluntary” Is the
Appropriate Interpretation Under the Civil Rights Laws.

“[A] fundamental principle of statutory construction (and, indeed, of language itself) [is]
that the meaning of a word cannot be determined in isolation, but must be drawn from the
context in which it is used.” Deal v. United States, 508 U.S. 129, 132 (1993) superseded by
statute as recognized in United States v. Davis, 139 S. Ct. 2319 (2019). Plaintiffs’ definition of
“voluntary” hews to this principle. It contemplates the statutory context of the ADA and GINA,
where the term is found. It considers that the ADA and GINA are employment statutes and that
in the context of work, loss of income can have particularly coercive effects. And, it recognizes
that “voluntary” must have some meaningful limit so as to not swallow the statutes’ general
prohibitions on medical examinations, inquiries, and the acquisition of genetic information.
Yale, however, flouts this cardinal rule of statutory interpretation, instead plucking out
various iterations of voluntary, none of which are grounded in the ADA or GINA. Yale urges the
court to rely on contract law, criminal law, or various different civil law contexts for a definition
of “voluntary” but makes no effort to examine how the term is used in employment law. Def.
Mem. 25-31.

8
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Yale takes particular issue with the portion of Plaintiffs’ definition that requires a
voluntary decision to be divorced from financial consideration, arguing that this definition
ignores how financial considerations color “where to work, where to live, and what to buy.” Def.
Mem. 24- 25. But this case is not about “where to work, where to live, and what to buy.” It is
about employees’ rights to retain their bodily autonomy and to be free from medical
examinations and inquiries made at the behest of their employer. It is about employees having
the right to determine who can acquire their genetic information. It is within that context that the
Court must decide what “voluntary” means.
1.

Employment Law, Rather Than Criminal or Contract Law, Provides
the Appropriate Framework for Determining the Meaning of
“Voluntary” within the ADA and GINA.

Plaintiffs propose a definition of “voluntary” that is grounded in the principles underlying
the FLSA, an employment statute that sheds light on how voluntariness is viewed in the context
of work. Defendant argues that Plaintiffs’ definition of “voluntary” is inconsistent with the
word’s usage in other areas of the law, Def. Mem. 27, but in doing so overlooks that “[i]n law as
in life . . . the same words, placed in different contexts, sometimes mean different things.” Yates
v. United States, 574 U.S. 528, 537 (2015). Indeed, Yale’s various iterations of voluntariness
only serve to prove this point. Def. Mem. 25-31. In each of those contexts, voluntariness is
understood in a slightly different way, and is ascribed meaning based on various considerations.
See, e.g., Yates, 574 U.S. at 537 (“We have several times affirmed that identical language may
convey varying content when used in different statutes.”) (quoting Atlantic Cleaners & Dryers,
286 U.S. 427, 433 (1932) (“the meaning [of a word] well may vary to meet the purposes of the
law.”)). Ultimately, none of Yale’s examples are relevant to how “voluntary” is construed in the
context of employment.
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For example, in criminal law, which Yale urges the Court to rely on for a definition of
“voluntary,” Def. Mem. 28-29, voluntariness is an individualized question of fact to be
determined from all the circumstances. See, e.g., Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 218
(1973); Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 749 (1970) (“The voluntariness of Brady’s plea
can be determined only by considering all of the relevant circumstances surrounding it.”). Courts
consider a variety of factors to determine voluntariness in the criminal realm, such as “the youth
of the accused . . . his lack of education . . . or his low intelligence . . . the lack of any advice to
the accused of his constitutional rights . . . the length of detention . . . the repeated and prolonged
nature of the questioning . . . and the use of physical punishment such as deprivation of food or
sleep.” Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 226 (describing the factors a court should consider when
assessing voluntariness in the context of confessions). These factors make sense in criminal law,
where police are permitted to use aggressive tactics to elicit consent, as opposed to employment,
where no reasonable employer would use them.
Moreover, because the criminal context implicates one’s freedom, all interactions are
inherently pressure-filled. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 458 (1966) (“Unless adequate
protective devices are employed to dispel the compulsion inherent in custodial surroundings, no
statement obtained from the defendant can truly be the product of his free choice.”). Thus,
concerns that are absent from employment necessarily color the meaning of the term “voluntary”
in the criminal context. See, e.g., Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 224-225 (“[V]oluntariness has
reflected an accommodation of the complex of values implicated in police questioning of a
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suspect.”).2 Because such considerations have no relevance in employment, they do not inform
the definition of “voluntary” that should apply in the context of work.
Yale’s analogies to voluntariness in contract law are likewise inapposite. Def. Mem. 27.
In contracting, courts effectively presume that the parties have entered a contract voluntarily.
See, e.g., In re The Score Board Inc., 238 B.R. 585, 592 (D.N.J. 1999) (“In contract disputes,
courts presume that parties voluntarily engage in an agreement that they intend to be binding.”);
see also Aditi Bagchi, Voluntary Obligation and Contract, 20 Theoretical Inquiries in L. 433,
433 (2019), https://lr.lawnet.fordhma.edu/faculty_scholarship/994. (“The assumption that
contract is voluntary does enormous work in most normative theories of contract.”). This legal
assumption is necessary to give rise to our normative views regarding contract creation and
enforcement. Id. at 434-35 (“[T]he premise of voluntariness does so much work to justify the
deference that both judges and legislators afford private agreement.”). In other words, this view
of voluntariness is necessary to make contracts work.3

Although criminal law is ultimately unhelpful in providing a definition of voluntary for the
ADA and GINA, it is worth noting that even the Supreme Court has rejected the notion that
voluntary simply means any “choice” in the context of criminal law. As the Supreme Court
explained: “[Voluntary] cannot be taken literally to mean a ‘knowing’ choice. Except where a
person is unconscious or drugged or otherwise lacks capacity for conscious choice, all
incriminating statements, even those made under brutal treatment—are ‘voluntary’ in the sense
of representing a choice of alternatives.” See Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 224 (citing Bator &
Vorenberg, Arrest, Detention, Interrogation and the Right to Counsel: Basic Problems and
Possible Legislative Solutions, 66 COL. L. REV. 62, 72-73).
2

Of course, the fact that a contract itself is voluntarily entered does not mean that any
particular term of a contract automatically satisfies a statute’s independent “voluntary”
requirement. For instance, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (“OWBPA”), which
requires employers to prove that any waiver of the right to bring an Age Discrimination in
Employment Act (“ADEA”) claim in a severance agreement is “knowing and voluntary.” 29
U.S.C. § 633(f). Even where the rest of a severance agreement is enforceable as knowingly and
voluntarily entered, the waiver of ADEA claims is not “knowing and voluntary” under the
OWBPA unless the employer adheres to specific, objective criteria. Id. Thus, while the general
presumption that parties enter into contracts voluntarily still applies, the presumption does not
3
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But contract law cannot illuminate the meaning of voluntary within the context of the
ADA and GINA because unlike contracts, work is not presumed to be voluntary—instead, it is
presumed to be performed for compensation. This does not make all work “involuntary
servitude,” as Yale suggests. Def. Mem. 28 n. 11. It merely recognizes that workers exchange
labor for consideration; they are not “volunteering.” Because workers expect—and are legally
required—to receive money for the time they spend working, the law, in turn, ascribes import to
the connection between work, voluntariness, and financial consideration in employment. Thus, it
makes sense when deciding what “voluntary” means in two employment statutes to consider how
financial compensation impacts employees’ decision making.
The FLSA exemplifies the connection between work, voluntariness, and financial
consideration and thus informs Plaintiffs’ definition. When employees “voluntarily” attend a
training, no compensation is required under the FLSA. (See Dkt. No. 44, Pl. Mem. 24-26.) If,
however, employees are attending training because they face an adverse action for refusing to
attend, including a reduction in pay, then their attendance is not voluntary (it is work) and
compensation is required. See 29 C.F.R. § 785.28 (“It is not voluntary . . . if the employee is
given to understand or led to believe that his present working conditions or the continuance of
his employment would be adversely affected by nonattendance.”). In other words, financial
consideration (here, compensation) is a marker of whether an employee is “working” or acting
“voluntarily.” Its presence equates to work, and its absence equates to voluntary activity. This
understanding of money in the context of work supports the portion of Plaintiffs’ definition that

permeate other independent “voluntary” requirements that are designed to protect employees’
civil rights. See also Section I.A.
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requires “voluntary” participation in a workplace wellness program to be divorced from financial
consideration.
The FLSA also recognizes another critical fact about the employment relationship: there
is inherent inequity between the employer and employee. The employer has the ability to control
the employee’s livelihood and income, so when the employer threatens an employee with an
adverse employment action for refusing to attend a training, the employee feels compelled to
attend. As a result, such attendance is, legally, not voluntary. See 29 C.F.R. § 785.28. This is so
even though employees technically have a “choice” to avoid adverse employment actions by
attending the training. Id. The FLSA recognizes that such constrained decision making is not
“voluntary” within the context of work. Pl. Mem. 25-26. This FLSA concept supports the portion
of Plaintiffs’ definition that requires the absence of coercion and the presence of genuinely free
choice.4 Just as an employee who faces a mere technical choice between a training or an adverse
employment action is not acting voluntarily, an employee who is limited to a technical choice
between either joining a wellness program and revealing sensitive and private information or
suffering a weekly reduction in pay is not volunteering to provide that information.
The FLSA provides the most contextually relevant concept of voluntariness for purposes
of this case and should guide the Court in determining the meaning of voluntary under the ADA
and GINA. It recognizes that the law ties financial consideration to voluntariness in the context
of work, and that the threat of an adverse employment action, such as a reduction in pay,
prevents an employee’s subsequent actions from being truly voluntary. These principles ground
Plaintiffs’ definition and support the conclusion that in the context of work, an action is only

Because Yale is so fixated on the portion of Plaintiffs’ definition that requires decisionmaking to be divorced from financial consideration, it fails to even address the other portions of
the definition such as an absence of coercion and need for genuinely free choice.
4

13

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55 Filed 06/05/20 Page 22 of 52

voluntary if it is done in the absence of coercion, divorced from financial consideration, and
made as a matter of genuine (rather than merely technical) free choice.
2.

Canons of Statutory Construction Support Plaintiffs’ Interpretation.

Yale’s proposed definition of “voluntary” fails to account for structural and linguistic
context. “Voluntary” wellness programs are exceptions to the statutes’ general prohibitions on
medical examinations, inquiries, and the acquisition of genetic information in the workplace.
These exceptions must “be construed ‘narrowly in order to preserve the primary operation of the
general rule.’” See, e.g., City of New York v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 524 F.3d 384, 403 (2d Cir.
2008) (internal quotations omitted). Yale fails to heed this directive, instead advancing exactly
the type of limitless and technical view of voluntary—“by choice”—that Plaintiffs forewarned in
their opening brief. Pl. Mem. 19-22. As Plaintiffs’ previously explained, this view of “voluntary”
has been explicitly rejected in the False Claims Act (“FCA”), where the term “voluntary”
similarly constitutes an exception to a general rule. Id. The FCA case law demonstrates that if the
term “voluntary” is not construed in a meaningful manner, the exception will swallow the rule.
Id. Yale fails to muster any response to this case law, other than summarily dismissing it,
ironically, as “context-specific.” Def. Mem. 30.
Yale’s definition also runs afoul of another related rule of statutory construction: “[A]
statute should be construed [to give effect] to all its provisions, so that no part will be inoperative
or superfluous, void or insignificant.” Corely v. U.S., 556 U.S. 303, 314 (2009). Here, Yale
construes the term “voluntary” so broadly that it effectively renders the provision meaningless.
Under Yale’s theory, employers could tell employees they face a fifty percent pay reduction
unless they “choose” to participate in a wellness program. Or, employers could give the choice
of participating or taking a demotion. The Program would still be voluntary under Yale’s
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definition. Indeed, “it strains the imagination to conjure up . . . [wellness programs] that would
not be voluntary under . . . [Yale’s] definition.” U.S. ex rel. Griffith v. Conn, No. 11-157-ART,
2015 WL 779047, at *5 (E.D. Ky. Feb. 24, 2015).
As Plaintiffs explained in their opening brief, EEOC v. Orion Energy Systems, Inc., 208
F. Supp. 3d 989, 991 (E.D. Wis. 2016) exemplifies the problem with Yale’s approach: any
wellness program would be considered voluntary, no matter how coercive. Pl. Mem. 20. But, the
Orion decision was fashioned in a vacuum, without giving any consideration to the intent of the
ADA or GINA or how the voluntary exception operated within those statutes. Instead, it
assumed, without any explanation, that Congress intended for employees to face “hard choices”
when seeking to enforce the very rights Congress conferred on them. It supported this reasoning
with a single cherry-picked, glib phrase — “a hard choice is not the same as no choice” —from a
case analyzing a criminal defendant’s right to peremptory challenges under Federal Rule 24(b),
in an opinion which did not discuss any interpretation of voluntariness. 208 F. Supp. 3d at 1001
(citing United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 315 (2000)). It gave no consideration to
how its broad and technical view of “voluntary” would effectively render the term meaningless
and nullify the general prohibition on medical examinations, inquiries, and the acquisition of
genetic information in the workplace. Thus, far from the bellwether of how “voluntary” should
be interpreted here, Orion epitomizes the harm that can be done to the statutes’ intent when
“voluntary” is not defined meaningfully and within context.
C.

Prohibiting Penalties Under the ADA and GINA Does Not Undermine the
ACA Because the ACA Governs Different Entities In Different Aspects of
Wellness Programs for Different Purposes.

Yale argues that the court must reject Plaintiffs’ definition of “voluntary” because it
would “ban[] incentives that the ACA statutory text and [Health Insurance Portability and
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Accountability Act (HIPAA)] regulations expressly allow.” Def. Mem. 34. This argument
reflects a basic misunderstanding of the “larger web of statutory and regulatory provisions
governing financial incentives in wellness programs.” Id. The ACA only permits health insurers
to offer limited incentives in only some types of wellness programs. Plaintiffs’ assertion that the
civil rights statutes prohibit penalties for refusing to provide protected health and genetic
information in other types of wellness programs presents no conflict with that. Indeed, Yale’s
argument here is precisely the one the EEOC put forth in AARP I—an argument the court
rejected because the ACA’s incentive provision is “in a different statute based on different
considerations and for different reasons.” 267 F. Supp. 3d at 30.5
The ACA and the civil rights laws regulate different entities: the ACA regulates group
health plans, while the civil rights laws regulate employers. The laws also regulate different
wellness programs for different purposes. Id. There are two types of wellness programs: (1)
health-contingent programs that require a participant to satisfy a particular health status factor;
and (2) participatory programs (like Yale’s), which typically involve information collection but
do not have outcome targets. Id. The ACA only addresses health-contingent programs. This is
because the ACA regulates discrimination in health insurance by “prevent[ing] health plans and
insurers from denying individuals coverage or benefits, or imposing increased costs, based on a
health factor.” Id. at 29 (citing Incentives for Nondiscriminatory Wellness Programs in Group
Health Plans, 78 Fed. Reg. 33158, 33158-59 (June 3, 2013) (hereinafter “2013 HIPAA Rule”).
By permitting limited penalties for failing to meet health goals in health-contingent wellness

Yale is mistaken when it states that AARP is counsel in this case. Def. Mem. at 16. Three of
the attorneys representing Plaintiffs in this case are employed by AARP Foundation, the
charitable affiliate of the nonprofit AARP. Two of those attorneys were also counsel to AARP in
AARP v. EEOC. AARP has not appeared in this case in any capacity.
5
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programs, the ACA allows insurers (not employers) to impose increased costs on individuals
based on health factors without running afoul of the ACA’s antidiscrimination mandate. Id.
However, the ACA is silent about information collection and does not address “participatory”
wellness programs in any way. Consequently, the ACA and its implementing regulations do
not—and were never meant to—guarantee that employees’ disclosure of private medical and
genetic information is “voluntary.” Neither the statute nor the regulations offer any definition of
“voluntary,” and there is no reason for them to do so.
The ADA and GINA, on the other hand, are concerned with information collection by
employers and do govern participatory wellness programs like Yale’s. “[T]he ‘voluntary’
provision of the ADA—like the ‘voluntary’ provision of GINA—is designed to prevent
employers from forcing employees to disclose health information that might enable employers to
discriminate against them.” Id. at 30. The ACA did not repeal these provisions, and the ACA
regulations “are clear . . . that compliance with [the ACA] does not guarantee compliance with
other federal non-discrimination statutes, including the ADA and GINA.” Id. at 30 (citing 2013
HIPAA Rule, 78 Fed. Reg. at 33168). Indeed, the ACA regulations expressly decline to address
whether information-collection is voluntary when wellness programs’ inquiries and examinations
tread onto ADA and GINA-protected territory. See 2013 HIPAA Rule, 78 Fed. Reg. at 33168
(“Other State and Federal laws may apply with respect to the privacy, disclosure, and
confidentiality of information . . . [E]mployers subject to the [ADA] must comply with any
applicable ADA requirements for disclosure and confidentiality of medical information and nondiscrimination on the basis of disability.”). In other words, both Congress and the agencies
promulgating the ACA regulations appropriately anticipated that where wellness programs reach
far enough to implicate the federal civil rights laws, additional restrictions apply.
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In short, preserving genuine voluntariness in wellness programs that do implicate the
ADA and GINA would not unravel Congress’s plan to permit incentives under the ACA; many
aspects of wellness programs—such as smoking cessation initiatives, reimbursements for gym
memberships, or health education seminars—would not trigger additional restrictions.
Nevertheless, where the two sets of laws overlap, the more protective provisions of the civil
rights laws apply. And a self-insured employer like Yale that runs an employee wellness
program must adhere to both the ACA’s nondiscrimination protections and the civil rights laws’
“voluntary” requirements.
The idea that two different sets of laws regulate the employment context, is not
problematic. In fact, it is entirely ordinary. For instance, employers must regularly ensure that
their employment practices conform to both federal and state civil rights laws, even where one
may be more restrictive than the other. Employers also must be sure that their working
environments conform to both the ADA and OSHA standards, even where one statute has more
stringent requirements about physical space and conditions. Overlapping rules are a staple of
American law that employers must deal with on a regular basis—they are not a conflict that must
be resolved by eliminating one set of protections.
The court in AARP I recognized this in rejecting EEOC’s attempt to “reconcile” the two
sets of rules by sacrificing the civil rights laws. 267 F. Supp. 3d at 30. Yale’s argument fails for
exactly the same reason.
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D.

The Current Regulatory Scheme Supports Plaintiffs’ Definition of
“Voluntary”
1. The 2016 Regulations Have No Persuasive Value Because They Had No
Legal or Factual Basis.

Yale argues that the Court should follow the 2016 EEOC regulations that attempted to
define “voluntary” as any penalty that was less than thirty percent of an individual’s combined
employer-employee health insurance premium. Yale adds that the 2016 regulations were
invalidated based on a procedural technicality that did nothing to undermine their persuasive
power. Def. Mem. 16-17, 34-38.
Yale is mistaken. The court in AARP v. EEOC, 292 F. Supp. 3d 238 (D.D.C. 2017)
(hereinafter AARP II) vacated the 2016 regulations not because of any technicality, but because
they of their fatal and likely incurable substantive flaws, which in turn prejudiced employees
who were being coerced to reveal their private medical information. 292 F. Supp. at 243
(vacating regulations as of January 1, 2019 for reasons discussed in AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at
34, 36-37).
Yale ignores entirely AARP I’s holding that there was “nothing in the administrative
record—or the final rule—to indicate that the agency considered any factors that are actually
relevant to the voluntariness question,” including “[t]he possibility that the ADA rule could
disproportionately harm the group the ADA is designed to protect.” 267 F. Supp. 3d. at 32-33.
Far from being a mere “failure to adequately respond to concerns about affordability,” as Yale
suggests, Def. Mem. 16, the court concluded that the utter absence of factual or legal support for
the rule evidenced “EEOC’s failure to engage meaningfully with the text and purpose of the
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ADA.” AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 33.6 Thus, the court did not find that the regulations were
merely “procedurally flawed but not irredeemable,” as Yale contends. Def. Mem. 39. Rather, the
court held that the rules were “not ‘the product of reasoned decisionmaking,’” AARP I, 267 F.
Supp. 3d. at 26 (quoting Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S.
29, 52 (1983)), which is a “serious failing in an agency’s decision,” id. at 37.
Because of these fundamental flaws in the regulations and because employees “could be
pressured by their employers to give up private medical data as long as the current Rules remain
in place,” the court ultimately ordered that they be vacated. AARP II, 292 F. Supp. 3d at 244.
While Yale focuses with myopic intensity on the court’s initial decision to remand without
vacatur due to potential disruptive effects, Def. Mem. 38-39, the University gives short shrift to
the court’s prediction in both decisions that the EEOC was unlikely to re-issue a thirty percent
rule. Id. at 244 (citing AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 38). The court explained, “[t]hat the agency’s
decision may very well be different on remand . . . further reduces the significance of the
disruption prong of the vacatur test.” AARP II, 292 F. Supp. 3d. at 244. While it is, of course,
impossible to prognosticate what the agency will do in the future, the court’s reasoning on this
point underscores its conclusion that the 2016 rules were not merely technically or correctably
flawed. Instead, they were entirely baseless and deserve no deference here.

In fact, the court expressly rejected the EEOC’s argument that the ACA’s “affordability”
requirement for health insurance could adequately substitute for a guarantee of “voluntariness.”
AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 33-34 (“EEOC is essentially arguing that it doesn't matter if the 30%
incentive level is too high—i.e., inconsistent with the voluntary requirement—because another
statutory provision might prevent employers from imposing insurance costs on employees that
could coerce them into disclosing protected information. Needless to say, this is a woefully
insufficient justification for EEOC’s chosen statutory interpretation.”).
6

20

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55 Filed 06/05/20 Page 29 of 52

2.

The ADA Guidance and GINA Regulations Conclusively Resolve Any
Potential Ambiguity in the Meaning of “Voluntary.”

The current, valid ADA guidance and GINA regulations favor Plaintiffs’ interpretation of
the civil rights laws’ “voluntary” requirement. Yale correctly notes that the 2000 ADA
Enforcement Guidance—which states that “[a] wellness program is ‘voluntary’ as long as an
employer neither requires participation nor penalizes employees who do not participate”—is not
entitled to Chevron deference because it was not enacted pursuant to notice-and-comment
rulemaking. Def. Mem. 35 (citing EEOC Enforcement Guidance: Disability-Related Inquiries
and Medical Examinations of Employees under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA),
(July 27, 2000), https://www.eeoc.gov/policy/docs/guidance-inquiries.html) (“2000 ADA
Guidance”). Published agency guidance, however, “while not controlling upon the courts by
reason of their authority, do constitute a body of experience and informed judgment to which
courts and litigants may properly resort for guidance.” Young v. UPS, Inc., 575 U.S. 206, 224-25
(2015) (quoting Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944)).
The ADA Guidance’s 15-year longevity before the erroneous 2016 regulations lends
credence to its continuing vitality, see id. at 225, as does its consistency with the ADA’s
protective purpose, see AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 30 (“the ‘voluntary’ provision . . . is designed
to prevent employers from forcing employees to reveal health information); Pl. Mem. 26-29.
Indeed, the Guidance coexisted peacefully with the pre-ACA twenty percent regulatory incentive
limit for group health plans’ health-contingent wellness programs for over a decade. See Supra
Part I.C.
While Yale points to the fact that EEOC briefly considered taking a different position on
“voluntary” as it grappled with the interplay between “incentives” and “penalties” in a 2009
letter and considered permitting de minimis incentives for information collection, Def. Mem. 9,
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35, it also concedes that the letter describing these considerations was ultimately withdrawn.7 Id.
(citing ADA: Disability-Related Inquiries and Med. Examinations; Health Risk Assessment,
EEOC (Mar. 6, 2009) (withdrawn)). What Yale fails to mention is that in 2010, after fully
considering these issues and evaluating many comments suggesting different approaches to
penalties and incentives, the EEOC issued regulations implementing GINA that ratified the
longstanding definition of “voluntary” using nearly identical language to the 2000 ADA
Guidance: “voluntary” means the employer “neither requires the individual to provide genetic
information nor penalizes those who choose not to provide it.” 29 C.F.R. § 1635.8(b)(2)(i)(B) .
The agency also made clear that employers may not condition any financial rewards on the
provision of genetic information. § 1635.8(b)(2)(ii). If anything, the agency’s thorough
consideration of how the 2000 ADA Guidance might or might not apply before ultimately
reinvigorating it with a binding rule supports, rather than undermines, the Guidance’s persuasive
value. Unlike the agency’s wholly unsupported about-face in 2016, the definition in the 2010
GINA regulations was thoroughly considered and consistent with the agency’s longstanding
position, as well as the civil rights laws’ text and purpose. Whether or not the court determines
that formal deference is appropriate, the current and past regulatory landscape favors Plaintiffs’
view of voluntariness, not Yale’s.

Notably, while the EEOC did consider whether both punishments and rewards were equally
prohibited, it is worth emphasizing that Yale’s “incentive” is actually a pay cut—and a
substantial one at that. It is not a $10 Starbucks gift card (Def. Mem. 35 n.14), but a $1,300 fine.
This was not the type of program the EEOC even temporarily contemplated permitting.
7
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3.

The Invalidation of the 2016 Regulations Applies Retrospectively, and
Yale Cannot Use Them As a Shield to Liability for the 2017 and 2018
Year.

Yale argues that the 2016 regulations’ invalidation cannot be applied retroactively. Def.
Mem. 38-39. This argument is both incorrect and of little import. The proper demarcation of
when the 2016 regulations ceased to apply is August 22, 2017, the date of the AARP I decision
declaring those regulations invalid. All judicial decisions are presumptively fully retrospective,
Davis v. U.S. Dept. of Justice, 610 F.3d 750, 754 (D.C. Cir. 2010), meaning that technically Yale
and other employers were violating the law for as long as they were complying with invalid
rules. It would be unfair to impose liability on Yale for a period of time in which it relied in good
faith on those rules, but any good faith reliance dissipated as of August 22, 2017.
Regardless, this dispute concerns only three months of the relevant time period: October
through December 2018, before the regulations were withdrawn under threat of vacatur. Even if
the Court concludes that the 2016 regulations shield Yale from liability for those three months,
that shield ceases to have any effect for the eighteen subsequent months. For that period of time
at a minimum, Yale has had no basis in law to impose penalties on employees who refused to
submit to medical examinations and medical and genetic inquiries.
E.

Yale’s Non-Textual Policy Arguments Do Not Undermine Plaintiffs’
Interpretation of “Voluntary.”

Throughout its briefing, Yale touts the quality and low cost of its health insurance plan
and warns of the impending disruption to it—as well as wellness programs nationwide—if the
Court embraces Plaintiffs’ definition. Def. Mem. 1, 10-12, 22, 33. These arguments miss the
mark for multiple reasons. First and foremost, they ignore the laws at issue in this case. The fact
that an employer may have to change its practices is “a thoroughly unsatisfactory justification for
ignoring statutory text.” Karlo v. Pittsburgh Glass Works, LLC, 849 F.3d 61, 76 (3d Cir. 2017).
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“At the end of the day, . . . [Yale’s] concerns have to be directed at Congress, which set the
balance where it is.” Meacham v. Knolls Atomic Power Lab., 554 U.S. 84, 101 (2008).
Indeed, the only appropriate role for policy analysis is to ensure that the statute is
interpreted in accordance with Congress’s legislative purpose—not some other purpose. See
Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337, 345 (1997) (interpreting “employees” to include
“former employees” in retaliation provision of Title VII because failure to do so would
undermine the statute’s protective purpose). Plaintiffs explained in their Opening Brief why their
definition of “voluntary” fulfills the statutes’ goal of ensuring that employees can freely decline
to submit to intrusive medical examinations and share deeply personal information in the
workplace. Pl. Mem. 26-29. Yale’s dismissive approach to these concerns is like the EEOC in
2016: it expresses concern for preserving wellness programs but does not take into account “any
factors that are actually relevant to the voluntariness question.” AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 32.
Nor can any affordability—or even generosity—of employee benefits justify the violation
of those employees’ civil rights. However commendable the University’s goals might be,
providing generally high-quality health coverage does not absolve employers of the
responsibility to follow the law. In any event, the absence of premiums and copays does not
make the program cost-free. As Plaintiffs have explained, the HEP imposes a cost on union
employees—either in privacy and bodily autonomy or in sacrificing a portion of their hardearned salaries. See FAC ¶¶ 10-24 (explaining the cost of compliance and the cost of noncompliance with the HEP). Indeed, the only employees who bear a monetary cost associated with
healthcare are those individuals who pay to exercise their civil rights—likely, those with health
conditions they wish to keep private. Cf. AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 33 (“The possibility that . . .
[imposing heavy penalties] could disproportionately harm the group the ADA is designed to

24

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55 Filed 06/05/20 Page 33 of 52

protect . . . again demonstrates EEOC’s failure to engage meaningfully with the text and purpose
of the ADA.”). Yale’s desire to reduce health care costs is understandable, but it cannot do so at
the expense of employees’ civil rights.8
Finally, the Court should be unmoved by Yale’s dire predictions of disruption of wellness
programs nationwide if the Court adopts Plaintiffs’ view of voluntariness. Putting a stop to
monetary penalties will not disturb the programs’ health-related infrastructure; it is only one
administrative change. Likewise, asking Plaintiffs’ permission before having a vendor request
their health data would be a very light clerical burden.
In any event, to the extent that Yale’s Program is disrupted, it has no one to blame but
itself for continuing to rely on invalidated law to justify its penalties. While Yale repeatedly
invokes the AARP court’s concern about disruption to wellness programs, that concern did not
stop the court from vacating the regulation that permitted penalties. The court delayed its
mandate to avoid the “manifest injustice” of leaving the regulations in place indefinitely while
ensuring that there was “plenty of time for employers to develop their 2019 wellness plans with
knowledge that the Rules have been vacated.” AARP II, 292 F. Supp. 3d at 243. Yale cannot
avoid the consequences of its decision to use that time to comply with the law and, instead, to
spend it preparing to implement a program that imposed precisely the “manifest injustice” the
court sought to avoid.

Yale’s comparison between the “voluntary” YPBA HEP and the Plaintiffs’ fee-driven HEP
makes clear that this exchange is exactly what Yale has in mind: police officers have no “opt-out
fee” because they pay a premium for health insurance, whereas Plaintiffs must pay to “opt out”
because that is the only way the Program remains affordable. Yale 56(a)(2) Statement ¶¶ 2,6
(premiums are “in lieu of a monetary incentive for wellness program participation). That is not
an “incentive;” it is a tax on privacy and bodily autonomy meant to subsidize health insurance.
8
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F.

In The Alternative, If The Court Concludes That No Purely Legal
Definition of “Voluntary” Applies, Both Motions Should be Denied
and the Parties Should Proceed to Discovery.

The parties have litigated this case with only minimal discovery because they believe that
the outcome hinges on an objective legal definition of “voluntary” that is not fact intensive and
therefore can be resolved at summary judgment. If, however, the Court eschews a purely legal
definition in favor of a fact-intensive or individualized one, Plaintiffs maintain that at the very
least, the HEP’s penalties in particular are so high as to render the Program involuntary. They
therefore respectfully suggest that if the Court determines that a fact-specific definition of
“voluntary” applies, the appropriate course would be to deny both motions and allow Plaintiffs to
proceed to discovery based on whatever guidance the Court provides as to the definition of
“voluntary,” including any factors the Court determines are relevant. Schwabenbauer v. Bd. of
Educ. of Olean, 667 F.2d 305, 313 (2d Cir. 1981) (explaining that when faced with cross motions
for summary judgment, a district court is not required to grant summary judgment as a matter of
law to one side or the other).9
II.

Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Summary Judgment on Their GINA Claims.
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment explained why the HEP’s data

collection violates GINA. See Pl. Mem. 15-16, 30 (citing 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(b)). While Yale
raises many arguments to evade GINA liability, the University actually does not contest most of

Notably, a fact-specific definition of “voluntary” does not necessarily undermine resolution
of this case on a class-wide basis. The Court might choose to assess the HEP’s voluntariness as a
whole based on a number of non-individual factors, such as the penalties’ high monetary value
relative to other wellness programs and the geographic area, the average income of the union
workforce to which the program applies, and the punitive nature of “incentivizing” workers to
participate by docking their pay. See AARP I, 267 F. Supp. 3d at 32-33 (describing
disproportionate effect of thirty percent penalty on low-income individuals and individuals with
disabilities as “factors relevant to” the voluntariness analysis).
9
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these elements. Yale does not dispute that claims data contains employees’ genetic information
under the statute; that its vendors request this information on its behalf through the claims
“monitoring” process (Yale Rule 56(a)(2) statement ) ¶ ¶ 15-18); that Yale does not disclose to
employees, let alone ask permission for, the transfer of this information (Id. ¶ 19); that health
coaches are trained to discuss individuals’ health information (which, if it belongs to employees’
spouses, is genetic information) (Id. ¶¶ 27-28); or that employees are penalized for refusing to
participate in health coaching sessions (Id. ¶ 25).
This Section first addresses the claims-data-collection aspect of the Program. There is no
question that this portion of the Program does not include the “prior, knowing, voluntary, written
consent” required by § 2000ff-1(b), so Plaintiffs prevail unless there is some other bar to their
claims. There is not. Yale’s contention that the Program satisfies GINA because Yale does not
violate HIPAA conflates Yale’s duties under both statutes. As an employer sponsoring an
insurance plan and running an employee wellness program, Yale must comply with both laws.
Thus, its compliance with HIPAA is entirely irrelevant to its compliance with GINA.
This Section next addresses the health coaching portion of the Program. The legality of
the health coaching portion of the Program turns primarily on the “voluntary” analysis in Section
I. However, Yale also insists that individuals can refuse to respond to coaches’ questions and
still fulfill the HEP’s requirements and escape the penalty. However, Yale does not tell
employees that they can refuse to reply to questions regarding genetic information, or even
identify which questions those are, even though required to do so by GINA regulations. See 29
C.F.R. § 1635.8(b)(2)(ii). Thus, this supposed leniency on Yale’s part has no legal consequence.
As a result, health coaching in the HEP violates GINA.
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Finally, this Section addresses Yale’s argument that Plaintiffs do not have standing under
GINA and, in any event, may not seek damages even if they do. Both arguments are wrong.
Violations of GINA’s prohibition on involuntary information collection are cognizable harms in
and of themselves, and nothing in the statute precludes employees from seeking damages as part
of the remedy for those harms.
A.

Yale’s Merits Arguments Regarding GINA Fail.
1.

Proper Confidentiality Protections Do Not Immunize The University
From Liability for the Involuntary Acquisition of Genetic
Information.

Yale argues that its conformance with HIPAA confidentiality procedures insulates it from
GINA liability for its wellness vendors’ acquisition of employee genetic information. Def. Mem.
44-46. That argument makes two fatal mistakes. First, it misapprehends the nature of Plaintiffs’
claims by conflating involuntary acquisition of genetic information and unlawful disclosure of
genetic information, which are two separate statutory violations. Second, Yale is incorrect about
the role of HIPAA’s protections in GINA’s statutory scheme.
First, Plaintiffs’ claim that Yale unlawfully collects Plaintiffs’ genetic information by
directing its vendor to gather that data from Yale Group Health Plan is entirely independent from
any allegations regarding improper disclosure under GINA. Compare FAC ¶¶ 124, 126-27
(alleging violations of “acquisition of genetic information” section, with ¶¶ 128-29 (alleging
violations of disclosure section). The involuntary acquisition of information violates 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000ff-1(b); improper disclosure of information violates 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-5. See also 29
C.F.R. § 1635.8 (involuntary requests for genetic information); § 1635.9 (unauthorized
disclosure of genetic information). As an employer, under GINA, Yale University is prohibited
both from requesting genetic information in an employee wellness program without employees’
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prior, knowing, voluntary, written consent, and from disclosing that information except in
limited ways. 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000ff-1(b), 2000ff-5; cf. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(4)(A) (requiring that
wellness programs make medical examinations and inquiries voluntary); § 12112(d)(4)(B)
(requiring that wellness programs keep information gathered through wellness programs
confidential).
Yale emphasizes that it follows proper confidentiality procedures, as required for group
health plans under HIPAA and for administrators of those plans under ERISA. Def. Mem. 44-45.
But that argument is entirely irrelevant to whether Yale directs its wellness vendor to collect that
information voluntarily—the province not of ERISA or HIPAA, but GINA. Yale’s use of the
“HIPAA wall” is irrelevant. While many employers’ wellness vendors use Health Risk
Assessments (a set of health questions) to collect employees’ information; Yale instead uses an
automatic and undisclosed claims transfer as its collection process. In both instances, HIPAA
requires that the information remains subject to privacy protections; in neither instance does
HIPAA guarantee that the collection process is voluntary. That is GINA’s role, and as a selfinsured employer, Yale must comply with all laws that apply to it—not just the ones that govern
health care, but the ones that govern employment discrimination as well. Simply labeling its
information-collection as a “plan administration function,” Def. Mem. 46, does not change that it
is part of a “wellness program” under Title II of GINA, for which Yale as an employer is
responsible. Rule 26(f) Report 4, Nos. 8-9.
For similar reasons, there is no merit to Yale’s argument that GINA’s provision
referencing HIPAA, 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-5(c), insulates it from liability. First, this provision does
not even apply to Yale University. The provision—which falls within the “Confidentiality of
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genetic information” section rather than the “Acquisition of genetic information” section—states,
in relevant part:
With respect to the regulations promulgated by the Secretary of Health
and Human Services under part C of title XI of the Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. 1320d et seq.) and section 264 of the Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996 (42 U.S.C. 1320d–2 note), this chapter
does not prohibit a covered entity under such regulations from any use or
disclosure of health information that is authorized for the covered entity
under such regulations.
42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-5(c) (emphasis added). Yale University, Plaintiffs’ employer, is not an entity
covered under the referenced regulations, which apply exclusively to health plans and healthcare
providers. 45 C.F.R. § 160.103 (defining “covered entity”); see also U.S. Dep’t Health and
Human Servs, “As an employer, I sponsor a group health plan for my employees. Am I a covered
entity under HIPAA?,” HHS HIPAA FAQ (Apr. 6, 2004), https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/forprofessionals/faq/499/am-i-a-covered-entity-under-hipaa/index.html (“The group health plan is
considered to be a separate legal entity from the employer or other parties that sponsor the group
health plan. Neither employers nor other group health plan sponsors are defined as covered
entities under HIPAA.”).
Even if this provision could be construed as applying to the University, it would only
affect liability for breaches of confidentiality, as its placement in the “confidentiality” section
suggests.10 The provision certainly would not provide blanket immunization for all treatment of

For this reason, given Yale’s submission of the OCR report finding that the HEP does not
violate HIPAA, Plaintiffs withdraw the portion of their Complaint alleging that the transfer of
information between HealthMine and TrestleTree violates GINA’s confidentiality requirements.
See FAC ¶¶ 120-21, 126-27. Whether the University discloses the information improperly in any
other ways has not yet been the subject of discovery and is not appropriate for resolution at this
stage of the case, as the parties agreed to brief only legal issues in these motions for summary
judgment. In fairness, Plaintiffs believe that Yale has also not waived its opportunity to move for
summary judgment on this claim in its entirety at a later stage merely by arguing some aspects of
that claim here.
10
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genetic information that resides in HIPAA-compliant programs, including acquisition of genetic
information in wellness programs. Def. Mem. 45. Indeed, such an exception would effectively
read out the vast majority of Title II’s protections because the vast majority of “genetic
information” covered by GINA is also protected health information.11
Finally, if there is any question that the HEP’s involvement with a HIPAA-compliant
insurance plan does not immunize it from liability, the applicable GINA regulations answer that
question conclusively. They explain that “[e]mployers and other GINA Title II covered entities
would remain liable for any of their actions that violate Title II, even where those actions involve
access to health benefits, because such benefits are within the definition of compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment.” 29 C.F.R. § 1635.11(b)(2). The regulation goes on to
explain that, as an example, “[i]f an employer contracts with a health insurance issuer to request
genetic information, the employer has committed a Title II violation.” § 1635.11(b)(2)(i) (also
noting that the issuer may have violated Title I of GINA). Yet that is exactly what Yale has done
in this instance by contracting with a third party to request genetic information from the Group
Health Plan without employees’ prior, knowing, voluntary, written consent.
In short, neither the GINA provisions Yale relies on nor the University’s protests that it
complies with health care privacy laws can save the University from liability for its involuntary
acquisition of employees’ genetic information through the claims-data-collection process.

See 45 C.F.R. § 160.103 (defining “protected health information,” “health information,” and
“individually identifiable health information). These broad definitions, which include any health
information created or transmitted by a covered entity, include virtually all of an individual’s
“genetic information” as defined under GINA. If Title II of GINA simply did not apply to PHI at
all, Congress surely wasted a great deal of effort in drafting it.
11
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2.

Health Coaches’ Requests for Genetic Information Violate GINA As a
Matter of Law.

Yale does not contest that it is requesting genetic information in connection with spousal
health coaching. See e.g., Def. Mem. 47 (“It is true that health coaching sessions are typically
designed to discuss chronic health risks.”); Pl. Mem. Ex. C, at 75:12-16; see also 29 C.F.R.
§ 1635.8(a) (characterizing a request for genetic information as “making requests for information
about an individual’s current health status in a way that is likely to result in a covered entity
obtaining genetic information.”). Instead, it argues that this request does not violate GINA
because spouses are not “required” to answer the questions posed by health coaches in order to
comply with the HEP (and avoid the penalty). Def. Mem. 47-48.
Even assuming arguendo that this is true, the health coach questions still run afoul of
GINA because Yale never actually informs HEP participants that they do not have to answer the
health coaching questions, nor does it identify which questions elicit genetic information. Pls.
Exs. L and M (describing employees’ and spouses’ experience with health coaching). This
violates GINA’s implementing regulations, which provide that for a wellness program to be
voluntary, employers must specifically identify what requested information is genetic
information and then advise individuals “in language reasonably likely to be understood” that
there will be no adverse consequence if they refuse to answer questions regarding genetic
information. 29 C.F.R. § 1635.8(b)(2)(ii).12 Indeed, the regulations specifically discuss programs

GINA’s regulations specifically prohibit penalties in wellness programs. See 29 C.F.R.
§ 1635.8(b)(2)(i)(B) (providing that the provision of genetic information is only voluntary if it
“neither requires the individual to provide genetic information nor penalizes those who chose not
to provide it.”) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the portion of the regulations relied on by
Plaintiffs here do not refer expressly to penalties for refusing to answer requests for genetic
information, but to inducements for answering those requests—to make clear that none may be
offered. In other words, employers must make clear that there can be no adverse consequences
for refusing to answer questions designed to elicit genetic information
12
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that request both genetic information and non-genetic information, making clear which ones
violate GINA. Because Yale fails to make such a disclosure here, its health coach questioning
violates the title of GINA that applies to employers:
(A) A covered entity offers $150 to employees who complete a health risk
assessment with 100 questions, the last 20 of them concerning family medical
history and other genetic information. The instructions for completing the health
risk assessment make clear that the inducement will be provided to all employees
who respond to the first 80 questions, whether or not the remaining 20 questions
concerning family medical history and other genetic information are answered.
This health risk assessment does not violate Title II of GINA.
(B) Same facts as the previous example, except that the instructions do not
indicate which questions request genetic information; nor does the assessment
otherwise make clear which questions must be answered in order to obtain the
inducement. This health risk assessment violates Title II of GINA.
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8(b)(2)(ii)(A)-(B). Yale does not suggest that the health coaching program is
like example A; in fact, it is almost identical to example B. Pls. Exs. L and M.13 Consequently,
it violates Title II of GINA.
In addition to the doctrinal reasons that Yale’s arguments fail, the practical implications
of the University’s position further reveal its flaws. Yale would have the Court believe that
individuals who are required to participate in health coaching can protect their rights by
resisting three hours of questioning by a trained professional whose sole goal is to discuss
participants’ health conditions. Yale urges the Court to accept this conclusion even though there
is no disclosure of the right to withhold answers. Because Yale represents that it would not treat
such resistance as noncompliance, the University contends, revealing any information to the

If Yale now seeks to provide evidence that individuals are advised of which information does
and does not constitute genetic information and informed expressly that they need not answer the
questions eliciting genetic information to avoid the “opt-out fee,” that presents a dispute of
material fact that should be the subject of discovery, which has not yet been conducted on this
topic.
13
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health coaches who are seeking it would be “voluntary.” The applicable regulations and any
common-sense view of voluntariness require rejection of that view. Indeed, such an approach
runs afoul of voluntariness even in the criminal sense, on which Yale urges the Court to rely,
where a suspect’s custodial confession is inadmissible if she has not been advised of her right to
remain silent.14
B.

Plaintiffs Have Standing to Bring GINA Claims Challenging Involuntary
Acquisition of Genetic Information Through the HEP.

Plaintiffs Kwesell and Schwartz have standing to bring GINA claims against Yale
because they have alleged that the HEP violates GINA and that they are harmed by that
violation. As Yale disputes only that Plaintiffs have met the injury-in-fact prong of the standing
analysis (rather than the traceability or redressability prongs), Def. Mem. 40-42, that is the focus
of Plaintiffs’ analysis here.
As the Supreme Court has recently explained, “[t]o establish injury in fact, a plaintiff
must show that he or she suffered ‘an invasion of a legally protected interest’ that is ‘concrete
and particularized’ and ‘actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.’” Spokeo, Inc. v.
Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1548 (2016) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560
(1992)). A “particularized” injury affects the plaintiff in an individualized, rather than
generalized way. Id. A “concrete” injury may be “intangible,” and may be a “real risk of harm.”
Id. at 1549-50. To assess whether an intangible harm is sufficiently concrete, courts look at

Yale also argues that Plaintiffs have failed to prove that health coaching violates GINA
because they have not shown that their own spouses have been selected for health coaching yet.
Def. Mem. 47. But Yale has admitted that the Program’s requirements—including health
coaching—apply to employees’ covered spouses, and Plaintiffs’ spouses are enrolled in Yale
Group Health Plan, so the Program applies to them. To the extent that this point actually raises a
standing argument, it fails for the reasons addressed below in Section II.B.
14
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“history and judgment of Congress,” assessing both legislative purpose and the grounding of an
intangible right in the common law tradition.
As discussed above, the injuries that Plaintiffs Kwesell and Schwartz have alleged (and
proved) are legally protected, as they have met all elements of 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(b). See
supra Parts II.A and II.B. There is also no question that Plaintiffs’ injuries are sufficiently
“particularized” because the information they seek to stop Yale from gathering is information
Congress has defined as their own “genetic information.” 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000ff(3), (4)(A)(iii).
While Yale suggests that this information is somehow not actually employees’ own genetic
information, Def. Mem. 41—presumably because spouses’ information is not genetically
connected to the employee in a scientific sense—it is information that Congress defines as
“genetic information” of the employee, and which Congress specifically enabled employees to
withhold from employers unless they choose to release it. 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(b). It is
Congress’s judgment that defines the scope of a violation, not Yale’s. See Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at
1549.
In addition, Plaintiffs have alleged sufficiently “concrete” harms, id., ones Congress
specifically identified as independent violations of their information privacy and ability to
protect themselves from discrimination. Both Plaintiffs are suffering financial harm from opting
out of the HEP, and both have alleged and submitted evidence that the HEP has harmed them
and continues to do so by violating their privacy during involuntary information acquisition,
FAC ¶ 65; Pl. Exs. G, K.
The tangible, financial harm Plaintiffs are experiencing is enough by itself to show
standing; the Court need go no further than that to address Yale’s argument. However, if the
Court does find it necessary to assess their intangible harm as well, the loss of privacy Plaintiffs
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have experienced and continue to face because of Yale’s collection of their genetic information
is a cognizable injury-in-fact on its own. Such harm is squarely within the scope of the injuries
Congress sought to prevent. Congress determined that to fulfill its goals of “relieving the fear of
discrimination and preventing its actual practice,” 42 U.S.C. 2000ff note (emphasis added), it
was necessary to prohibit (1) involuntary acquisition of genetic information,42 U.S.C. § 2000ff1(b); (2) unlawful disclosure of genetic information,42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-5; and (3) discrimination
based on genetic information, 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(a). While Yale rightly notes that Congress
included family medical history in its definition of genetic information in order to prevent
discrimination, Def. Mem. 41-42, it would thwart that preventative purpose to require Plaintiffs
to wait until discrimination occurs to bring suit.15 Similarly, Yale’s argument that there is no
need to fear discrimination because of the “HIPAA wall” is entirely irrelevant. HealthMine and
TrestleTree, on Yale’s behalf, already have involuntary, unauthorized access to Plaintiffs’ family
medical history. Yale’s efforts to prevent further disclosure in violation of a separate statutory
provision do not nullify that initial harm.16
The loss of privacy and control over one’s own personal information are also readily
analogized to the types of harms historically cognizable at common law as enforceable in their
own right without the need to show additional harm. In particular, GINA’s prohibition on
involuntary acquisition of genetic information protects privacy interests similar to those

Relatedly, Yale’s arguments that the Program is “reasonably designed” under GINA and
provides “reasonable alternatives” to certain requirements as required by the ADA are entirely
beside the point. Plaintiffs have not alleged violations of those independent requirements and
need not do so to allege the violations at issue in this case.
15

At minimum, permitting employees to enforce this right conferred on them by Congress
allows employees to insulate themselves from increased risk of the other harms against which
GINA guards.16 See Spokeo, 136 S.Ct. 1550.
16
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protected by the common law tort of intrusion upon seclusion. Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 652B (2020) (“One who intentionally intrudes, physically or otherwise, upon the solitude or
seclusion of another or his private affairs or concerns, is subject to liability to the other for
invasion of his privacy, if the intrusion would be highly offensive to a reasonable person.”)
(emphasis added); see also § 652B cmt. a (“The form of invasion of privacy covered by this
Section does not depend upon any publicity given to the person whose interest is invaded or to
his affairs.”). Courts, including the Second Circuit, have readily recognized that similar statutory
data-mining prohibitions constitute a concrete harm analogous to intrusion, irrespective of
disclosure. Mount v. PulsePoint, Inc., 684 Fed. App’x 32, 34 (2d Cir. 2017) (unauthorized access
to and monitoring of web-browsing is concrete injury); Patel v. Facebook, Inc., 290 F. Supp. 3d
948, 954 (N.D. Cal. 2018) (“the collection of biometric information without notice or consent
can never support Article III standing without ‘real-world harms’”).
In short, there is no reason to “make standing law more complicated than it needs to be.”
Thole v. USA Bank, N.A., No. 17-1712, 2020 WL 2814294, at *5 (U.S. June 1, 2020). The
plaintiffs have brought GINA claims because they want Yale to stop directing wellness vendors
to acquire their family health history without their permission and docking their pay if they or
their spouses are selected for health coaching and refuse to submit. See Pl. Ex. K, Declaration of
Lisa Kwesell in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to
Dismiss and in Further Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.17 That is
enough to supply the concrete adversity that Article III requires.

In case there is any remaining question about the likelihood of a given Plaintiff facing every
specific aspect of the HEP to which they are all subject, Plaintiffs have submitted a supplemental
affidavit from Lisa Kwesell explaining why she believes her husband would likely be selected
for health coaching, and why that would be an invasion of her privacy and an independent basis
for paying the HEP’s price for noncompliance.
17
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C.

Plaintiffs’ Claims for Money Damages for Yale’s Intentional Violations of
GINA’s Limits on Acquisition and Disclosure of Genetic Information Are
Well-Founded.

In closing, Yale takes a brusque swipe at Plaintiffs’ GINA damages claims by miscasting
Title II of the statute as a garden variety employment discrimination law. Yale essentially says
GINA’s function is to prohibit intentional bias “because of” genetic information, 42 U.S.C.
§§ 2000ff-1(a)(1), while the strict limits on genetic data “[a]cquisition” and “disclosure,”
§ 2000ff-1(b), 5(b), at issue here, are merely instrumental and, thus, are not intended by
Congress as grounds for monetary recovery. Def. Mem. 50. Yale’s argument is based on a
superficial analysis of how GINA incorporates Title VII’s remedies, via 42 U.S.C. § 1981a. This
misreading should be rejected in the light of GINA’s plain text, its regulations, and the court
rulings recognizing damages as a remedy for such claims.

If the Court is, nonetheless, unpersuaded that Plaintiffs have met their burden to show injury-infact, Plaintiffs request that the Court grant them leave to amend to name other members of the
putative class whose allegations, in the First Amended Complaint, show even more vividly and
in more detail the harm Yale’s union members suffer, both in terms of loss of privacy and loss of
money, because of the HEP’s violations of GINA. See, e.g., FAC ¶¶ 76, 78 (allegations of
putative class members Katie McFarland and Rosanna Gonsiewski, whose spouses have been
subjected to health coaching as part of their compliance with the HEP to avoid the penalty), 6668 (allegations of Ralph Marguy and Bill Krom regarding the financial harm they suffer because
they are out of compliance with the HEP in part because they do not want to reveal their spouses’
health information). Such an amendment would not be prejudicial because the allegations are
already in the Complaint, only limited factual discovery intended to inform the instant motion
practice has taken place yet, and no arguments regarding individual factual circumstances have
yet become relevant.
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1.

Section 2000ff-6 Permits Damages Generally for GINA Violations,
Including the Intentional Requests and Disclosures Plaintiffs Allege
Yale has Carried out with Respect to Them.

GINA’s statutory scheme incorporates Title VII remedies, including damages, for all
violations, with a few exceptions unrelated to Plaintiffs’ claims in this case. Thus, “[i]n general,”
the “remedies provided . . . [to] any person, alleging a violation of title VII . . . shall be the . . .
remedies [GINA] provides to . . . any person . . . alleging an unlawful employment practice in
violation of [GINA].” 42 U.S. C. § 2000ff-6(a)(1). To be sure, sub-section (a)(1) references a
damages-related exception; yet, sub-section (a)(3) reiterates, and further specifies, that it is Title
VII’s remedies, set forth in “section 1981a of this title” (i.e., 42 U.S.C. § 1981a), that “shall be . .
. [the] remedies . . . [GINA] provides to . . . any person, alleging such a practice.” § 2000ff1(a)(3) (emphasis added). That is, sub-section (a)(3) (“such a practice”) confirms that Title VII
remedies, including damages, apply to any “unlawful employment practice,” referenced in subsection (a)(1), and, thus, guarantees that damages are available in the event of any practice “in
violation of [GINA].” § 2000ff-1(a)(1). That said, sub-section (a)(3) also hedges slightly, but not
in a manner compromising Plaintiffs’ damages claims under § 2000ff-1(b) and 5(b). Rather, subsection (a)(3) merely clarifies that it exempts from damages liability only “such . . . practice[s]”
that are expressly excluded by Title VII: i.e., it covers practices that are “not an employment
practice specifically excluded from coverage under section 1981a(1)(1).” 42 U.S.C. 2000ff1(a)(3) (emphasis added). However, the sole employment practice so “specifically excluded” is
“an employment practice that is unlawful because of its disparate impact.” 42 U.S.C.
§ 1981a(a)(1).
In short, the only GINA Title II claims for which money damages are not available are
those challenging employer practices that are neutral with respect to genetic information but

39

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55 Filed 06/05/20 Page 48 of 52

which “adversely affect the status of the employee as an employee, because of genetic
information with respect to the employee.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(a)(2); see Meacham v. KAPL,
554 U.S. 84, 95 (2008) (explaining that the corresponding provision of the ADEA, 29 U.S.C.
623(a)(2), “extends to practices with a disparate impact”). Neither of Plaintiffs’ GINA claims are
disparate impact claims. Hence, according to GINA’s text, Plaintiffs may seek damages as a
remedy for these claims.
This straight-forward statutory construction demonstrates the lack of merit in Yale’s
contention that, just because § 1981a limits Title VII damages to cases of “intentional
discrimination,” GINA does as well. Pl. Mem. 50. Contrary to Yale’s simplistic account, it
matters not only that GINA incorporate section 1981a remedies, but also how GINA does so.
GINA plainly does so by providing damages for all non-disparate-impact claims by private
plaintiffs—not to mention all such claims by “the Commission [and] the Attorney General.” 42
U.S.C. §§ 2000ff-6(a)(1), (3). The EEOC’s GINA regulations are to the same effect. See 29
C.F.R. § 1635.10(b) (stating, with greater specificity, “[c]ompensatory and punitive damages”
are among the “remedies [that] are available for violations of GINA sections 202, 203, 204, 205,
206, and 207(f).”)18
Several recent federal trial court decisions recognize that damages are a proper remedy
for violations of GINA provisions other than § 2000ff-1(a). Plaintiffs know of no decisions to the
contrary, and Yale cites none. 19 In short, contrary to Yale’s characterization, Plaintiffs’ claims

The regulations also reference summarily, without any elaboration beyond that in GINA
itself, GINA’s incorporation of “damages as provided for, and limited by, 42 U.S.C.
§ 1981a(a)(1) and (b).” 29 C.F.R. §1635.10(b)(1).
18

Even these few rulings present a significant pattern, given the “dearth of caselaw interpreting
GINA.” Jackson v. Regal Beloit Am., Inc., No. 16-134-DLB-CJS, 2018 WL 3078760, at *15
(E.D. Ky. June 21, 2018).
19
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for damages are well-founded and hardly “novel.” Def. Mem. 50. In Jackson, the court
considered, as here, a private plaintiff’s claim, pursuant to § 2000ff-1(b) of GINA, that her
employer unlawfully “requeste[d] or acquire[d]”her genetic information, in the form of family
medical history, “through a health-care provider in the context of a medical examination.”
Jackson, at *16. The court denied the employer’s summary judgment motion on this claim. It
concluded that, “[a]s with her other claims [that survived summary judgment—i.e., for
retaliation, under GINA, and for retaliation and an unlawful medical exam, under the ADA],
Jackson’s damages must be determined by a jury.” Id. Likewise, in EEOC v. Grisham Farm
Products, Inc., 191 F. Supp. 3d 994 (W.D. Mo. 2016), the court awarded the plaintiff $10,000 in
“damages suffered . . . [as] a direct and proximate result of . . . [the defendant-employer’s]
violation of the ADA . . . and GINA, 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff-1(b).” 191 F. Supp. 3d at 998. This
Court likewise should reject Yale’s bid to dismiss Plaintiffs’ GINA damages claims.
2.

The Claim that Section 1981a’s Focus on “Intentional” Misconduct
Precludes Monetary Relief for Yale’s Violations of GINA Sections
202(b) and 205(b) is Baseless.

Yale suggests that Plaintiffs’ GINA damages claims somehow are not premised on
“intentional” misconduct. Once again, Yale offers no decisional support for its own “novel”
interpretation of Plaintiffs’ claims under §§ 2000ff-1(b) and -5(b). And again, Yale’s thesis
clashes with GINA’s text and settled authority as to what misconduct shows “intentional” civil
rights violations.
On their face, §§ 2000ff-1(b) and -5(b) both state intent-based violations. Using the
active voice consistent with purposeful conduct, the former makes it “unlawful . . . for an
employer to request, require, or purchase genetic information,” § 2000ff-1(b); the latter declares
that “[a]n employer . . . shall not disclose genetic information,” § 2000ff-5(b). That § 2000ff-1(b)
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violations must be intentional is especially clear given its exemption of liability “where an
employer inadvertently requests or requires family medical history.”
Indeed, GINA regulations indicate that § 2000ff-1(b) violations must be intentional in a
broad sense of the word. They focus not only on explicit “requests for” genetic information, but,
also, on requests for medical data “likely to” contain it. 29 C.F.R. § 1635.8(a) (prohibiting
“requests for information about an individual’s current health status in a way that is likely to
result in a covered entity obtaining genetic information”); see also § 1635.8(b)(i)(A) (“If a
covered entity acquires genetic information in response to a lawful request for medical
information, the acquisition . . . will not generally be considered inadvertent unless the covered
entity directs the . . . provider [of data] . . . not to provide genetic information.”); Montgomery v.
Union Pac. RR. Co., No. CV-17-002-1-TUC-RM, 2018 WL 6110930, at *9 (D. Ariz. Apr. 9,
2018) (denying summary judgment on GINA § 2000ff-1(b) claim because employer “unlawfully
requested medical records without instructions to redact family history”).
Summary judgment as to Plaintiffs’ GINA damages claims should be denied.
CONCLUSION
For these reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court grant their Motion for
Partial Motion for Summary Judgment and deny Yale’s Motion to Dismiss and Motion for
Summary Judgment or deny both motions and permit the parties to proceed to discovery.
Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Dara S. Smith
Dara S. Smith (pro hac vice)
Elizabeth Aniskevich (pro hac vice)
Daniel B. Kohrman (pro hac vice)
AARP FOUNDATION
601 E Street, NW
Washington, DC 20049
Tel: (202) 434-6280
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Fax: (202) 434-6424
dsmith@aarp.org
eaniskevich@aarp.org
dkohrman@aarp.org
Joshua R. Goodbaum (ct28834)
Joseph D. Garrison (ct04132
Elisabeth J. Lee (ct30652)
GARRISON, LEVIN-EPSTEIN, FITZGERALD,
& PIRROTTI, P.C.
405 Orange Street
New Haven, CT 06511
Tel: (203) 777-4425
Fax: (203) 776-3965
jgoodbaum@garrisonlaw.com
jgarrison@garrisonlaw.com
elee@garrisonlaw.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 5th day of June, 2020, a copy of the foregoing was
electronically filed (and served by mail on anyone unable to accept electronic filing). Notice of
this filing will be sent by email to all parties by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system
(or by mail to anyone unable to accept electronic filing). Parties may access this filing through
the Court’s CM/ECF system.
/s/ Dara S. Smith
Dara Smith
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT
___________________________________
LISA KWESELL; CHRISTINE
:
TURECEK; AND JASON SCHWARTZ, :
individually and on behalf all others
:
similarly situated,
:
:
(KAD)
Plaintiffs,
:

v.
YALE UNIVERSITY,
Defendant.
___________________________________

CIVIL ACTION NO. : 3:19-cv-1098

:
:
:
:
:
:

CLASS ACTION

June 5, 2020

PLAINTIFFS’ LOCAL RULE 56(a)(2) STATEMENT IN OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND TO DISMISS THE
COMPLAINT FOR LACK OF STANDING
1. All facts stated by Yale in the Local 56(a)(2) Statement filed concurrently with this
Statement.
Response: This statement does not comply with Local Rule 56(a)(1)’s requirement that
Yale set forth a “concise statement of each material fact.” Plaintiffs cannot respond as
phrased.
2. Yale does not, and is not alleged in this action to, discriminate against anyone on the
basis of disability or genetic information.
Response: Denied. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), medical exams
and inquiries, which Yale conducts as part of the Health Expectations Program (“HEP”),
are prohibited acts of discrimination. See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(4).
3. There is no allegation that Yale’s Program involves genetic testing of any employee.

1

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55-1 Filed 06/05/20 Page 2 of 11

Response: Admits that Yale’s Program does not involve genetic testing but denies any
implication that the Program does not include requests for genetic information in the
form of spousal medical history, including the “manifestation of a disease or disorder in
family members of such individual.” See 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff(4)(iii); see also Exhibit C
attached to Plaintiffs’ Opening Brief at 35:6-37:3; 39:23-40:25 (explaining the insurance
claims and claims-equivalent transfer process); id. at 37:7-39:4 (explaining what is
included in insurance claims data and claims equivalent data).
4. Unite Here Local 34 and Local 35 (the “Unions”), which represent all the named
Plaintiffs and putative class members, proposed and agreed to the terms of the Health
Expectation Program (the “Program) as part of the January 2017 collective bargaining
agreement (“CBA”) that governs all relevant time periods. Penney Decl. ¶¶ 3-6.
Response: Admits.
5. Under the Unions’ CBA, members can select health coverage under the Yale Group
Health Plan that requires them to pay no premium, no deductible, and only the limited
copayments listed at page YU-00000115 of Exhibit N to Yale’s summary judgment
motion. Penney Decl. at ¶¶ 6-7.
Response: Admits
6. In contrast, the Yale Police Benevolent Association (a separate union) negotiated a
different agreement for its members, which was a substantial increase in employee
contributions for health insurance premiums in lieu of a monetary incentive for wellness
program participation. Penny Decl. at ¶ 4.
Response: Admits, with the caveat that “substantial” is a characterization of the premium
increase, and not a fact.
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7. The first deadline for Union employees to meet the requirements for Program
participation was October 1, 2018, and the first payroll deductions occurred in November
2018. Penney Decl. ¶¶ 8, 24
Response: Admits.
8. Prior to October 1, 2018, Yale engaged in extensive outreach efforts to inform Union
employees about the Program. Penny Decl. at ¶ 9.
Response: Admits, with the caveat that “extensive outreach” does not ensure that all
union members were aware of the Program.
9. Union members may choose not to enroll in Yale-sponsored insurance and/or not to
enroll their spouses in Yale-sponsored insurance, and they face no adverse employment
consequences if they so choose. Union members or spouses who choose not to enroll in
Yale-sponsored health insurance are not enrolled in the Program and are not subject to
the Program’s payroll deduction or data monitoring. Penny Decl. ¶¶ 11-12.
Response: Denies the first sentence as phrased because employees who do not enroll in
Yale-sponsored insurance to avoid revealing sensitive medical and genetic information in
connection with the Program face an adverse employment consequence: losing access to
employer-sponsored health insurance that preserves their civil rights. Admits that union
members who are not enrolled in Yale-sponsored insurance are not subject to the
Program.
10. The Program’s health screenings are provided to Union members free of charge and
follow national standards set by the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force and other
professional organizations. Penny Decl. at ¶¶ 17-18.
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Response: Admits
11. Those enrolled in Yale-sponsored insurance may still request an exemption or a
reasonable alternative accommodation for specific Program requirements on medical,
religious, or other grounds, and an outside vendor named TrestleTree determines whether
to grant the exemption on a case-by-case basis.
Response: Admits
12. TrestleTree operates pursuant to a business associate agreement (“BAA”) that requires
TrestleTree to abide by HIPAA privacy rules. Penney Decl. at ¶ 13.
Response: Admits
13. Under Yale’s “reasonable alternative standard,” an employee may seek approval to
satisfy the screening requirements by instead completing health coaching with licensed
nurses. Penney Decl. at ¶ 19.
Response: Admits.
14. Absent a “reasonable alternative” accommodation request, health coaching is a Program
component only for individuals with specific chronic conditions: those with diabetes,
heart disease, hyperlipidemia, COPD, heart failure, or hypertension, in combination with
other risk factors that identify them as being at heightened risk for serious medical
complications. Penney Decl. ¶ 20.
Response: Admits.
15. The health coaches are all registered nurses approved by Yale and employed and
managed by TrestleTree, pursuant to the BAA. Penny Decl. ¶ 21.
Response: Admits.

4
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16. Coaching may be done over the phone, and TrestleTree offers after-hours appointments
for anyone who wants in-person coaching but cannot attend during the day. Penney Dec.
¶ 22.
Response: Admits.
17. Employees have access to an online portal through which they can review which health
actions remain for them to complete and the timeline for completing them. Penney Decl.
¶ 23.
Response: Admits.
18. Program participation is assessed on a quarterly basis, with a one-quarter grace period.
Penney Decl. ¶¶ 24-25.
Response: Admits
19. When Program participation is assessed each quarter, $25 payroll deductions are
automatically added or removed for the subsequent quarter. Penney Decl. at ¶ 26.
Response: Admits.
20. Through the online portal, an employee may affirmatively “opt out” of the Program,
meaning that they are electing to be nonparticipating, and thus have payroll deductions,
whether or not they complete Program requirements in the future. Penney Decl. ¶ 27.
Response: Admits.
21. Whether or not employees have completed Program requirements, and whether or not
they have affirmatively opted out their health insurance premium cost is zero as long as
they are enrolled in Yale-sponsored insurance.
Response: Denies as phrased because while individuals under Yale Health Plan have no
premiums, individuals covered under the Aetna plan, which is also sponsored by Yale,
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pay a premium. See Exhibit N, YU-00000077 at YU-00000092 (listing the total monthly
contribution required by Aetna Select and Legacy Aetna POS members).
22. The Program is part of the Yale Group Health Plan (“YGHP”), a form of “employee
welfare plan” under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”). Penney
Decl. ¶ 28.
Response: Denies as phrased. Admits that Yale Group Health Plan is a form of
“employee welfare plan” under ERISA and that the plan contains the terms governing the
Program but denies that the Program is solely "part of" the plan because it is also an
employee health plan under the ADA and an employee wellness program under GINA,
which are part of Yale University's employment functions. See ECF 31 at 4 ¶¶ 8, 9 (26(f)
Report).
23. YGHP offers a menu of health benefits options, including Aetna insurance policies and
Yale’s own alternative called the Yale Health Plan (“YHP”), which is similar to an inhouse maintenance organization (“HMO”). YGHP is the ERISA “plan” that encompasses
both Aetna enrollees and YHP enrollees, while YHP it not itself an ERISA plan – rather,
it is one of the coverage options available under YGHP. Penney Decl. at ¶ 29.
Response: Admits.
24. The administration of YGHP is walled off from the rest of the University. YGHP
operates separately from any of Yale’s employment offices, and health information in its
possession is not accessible to other departments of the University. Penney Decl. ¶ 31.
Response: Admits.
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25. Pursuant to a BAA that requires it to abide by HIPAA privacy rules, a second program
vendor named HealthMine performs several plan administration functions for YGHP.
Penney Decl. at ¶ 32.
Response: Admits.
26. HealthMine analyzes YGHP’s insurance claims data – to (a) automatically determine on
a quarterly basis whether an employee has completed a health action and (b) identify the
high-risk individuals for referral to health coaching. Penney Decl. ¶ 33.
Response: Admits.
27. By letter dated March 18, 2019, the Office for Civil Rights (“OCR”) at the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, which is responsible for enforcing HIPAA
rules, reported its conclusion that “Yale Health has entered into business associate
agreements with both vendors,” TrestleTree and HealthMine, and the agreements “appear
to comply with [HIPAA] Privacy and Security Rules,” and that “the activities of Yale
Health do not violate the Privacy Rule.” Penney Decl. ¶ 35.
Response: Admits that Yale received an OCR letter dated March 18, 2019 that stated
“Yale Health has entered into business associate agreements with both vendors” and the
agreements “appear to comply with [HIPAA] Privacy and Security Rules.
28. HealthMine does not have access to claims data from outside the YGHP (for example,
data predating one’s employment at Yale). The data accessed by HealthMine is merely a
subset of the data that YHGP already maintains for plan administration purposes. Penney
Decl. ¶ 36
Response: Admits.
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29. HealthMine would know about a Yale employee’s completion of a preventative health
action outside the YGHP network only if the employee self-reported it on a Health
Action Credit Form. Penney Decl. ¶ 37.
Response: Admits
30. HealthMine administers the online portal and generates mailed reminders to employees to
make sure they know when a Program due date is approaching – but refers participants to
the online portal to review their private health information. This process prevents
unintentional disclosure of private health information.
Response: Admits that HealthMine administers the online portal, generates reminders to
employees, and refers participants to the online portal to review their private health
information. Because Plaintiffs have limited discovery to the factual issues relevant to
“voluntary,” they cannot admit or deny whether this process prevents the unintentional
disclosure of health information. See ECF No. 42 (Scheduling Order). This information is
relevant to Plaintiffs’ disclosure claim, which is not the subject of the instant motion.
31. HealthMine reports to Yale’s payroll processing system each quarter as to which
employees will have a $25 deduction for the quarter, with no further explanation or
elaboration. Penney Decl. at ¶ 40.
Response: Admits.
32. HealthMine and TrestleTree do not disclose any individual’s health status to anyone at
Yale other than the walled-off YGHP administrators in their plan administration role. As
employer, Yale receives no information about individuals’ health status. Penney Decl. ¶
41.
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Response: Because Plaintiffs have limited discovery to the factual issues relevant to
“voluntary,” they cannot admit or deny whether Yale receives any information about
individuals’ health status. See ECF No. 42 (Scheduling Order). This information is
relevant to Plaintiffs’ disclosure claim, which is not the subject of the instant motion.
33. When HealthMine identifies a high-risk individual for health coaching, it informs
TrestleTree, pursuant to a BAA that requires TrestleTree to comply with HIPAA privacy
rules. Penney Decl. ¶ 42.
Response: Admits.
34. The TrestleTree nurse coach receives from HealthMine only the minimum necessary
information on the individual’s health condition – only what is necessary for the nurse
coach to know why the person was referred for coaching.
Response: Admits.
35. During the coaching sessions, the conversation is generally driven by the participant’s
goals. Although nurses may ask questions about medical treatment or history, employees
are under no obligation to reveal medical information.
36. Response: Denies as phrased. Because Yale never informs union members or their
covered spouses who are subject to health coaching that they are free to decline
answering the health coach’s questions regarding medical treatment or history, it is not
clear to participants whether they have an obligation to reveal their medical information.
To the extent this issue is legally significant, additional discovery is necessary.
37. Though nurses can help more if they know more, employees can discuss their health as
much or as little as they want, simply listen to what the coach has to say, and still
complete the required annual hours.
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38. Response: Denies as phrased. Because Yale never informs union members or their
covered spouses who are subject to health coaching that they are free to decline
answering the health coach’s questions regarding medical treatment or history, it is not
clear to participants whether they have an obligation to reveal their medical information.
To the extent this issue is legally significant, additional discovery is necessary.
39. During calendar year 2018, the total monthly premium cost for employee-only coverage
was $794 for the Yale Health Plan option and $963 for the Aetna Select option.
Stipulation, ECF No. 45
Response: Admits.
40. During calendar year 2019, the total monthly premium cost for employee-only coverage
was $852 for the Yale Health Plan option and $1,064 for the Aetna Select option.
Stipulation, ECF No. 45.
Response: Admits.
41. During calendar year 2020, the total monthly premium cost for employee-only coverage
is projected to by $904 for the Yale Health Plan option and $1,142 for the Aetna Select
option. Stipulation, ECF No. 45
Response: Admits.
42. The $25 weekly incentive cost represented, in 2018, less than 14% of the cost for
individual health coverage in the Yale Health Plan (the least expensive plan), less than
5% of the cost for family coverage in the Yale Health Plan, less than 12% of the cost for
individual coverage in the Aetna plan, and less than 4% of the cost for family coverage in
the Aetna plan. The incentive cost represented even smaller percentages in later years,
when premiums rose. Penney Decl. ¶15.
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43. Response: Admits.
Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Dara S. Smith

Dara S. Smith (pro hac vice)
Elizabeth Aniskevich (pro hac vice)
Daniel B. Kohrman (pro hac vice)
AARP FOUNDATION
601 E Street, NW
Washington, DC 20049
Tel: (202) 434-6280
Fax: (202) 434-6424
dsmith@aarp.org
eaniskevich@aarp.org
dkohrman@aarp.org
Joshua R. Goodbaum (ct28834)
Joseph D. Garrison (ct04132
Elisabeth J. Lee (ct30652)
GARRISON, LEVIN-EPSTEIN,
FITZGERALD, & PIRROTTI, P.C.
405 Orange Street
New Haven, CT 06511
Tel: (203) 777-4425
Fax: (203) 776-3965
jgoodbaum@garrisonlaw.com
jgarrison@garrisonlaw.com
elee@garrisonlaw.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT
___________________________________
LISA KWESELL; CHRISTINE
:
TURECEK; AND JASON SCHWARTZ; :
individually and on behalf all others
:
similarly situated,
:
:
Plaintiffs,
:
:
v.
:
:
YALE UNIVERSITY,
:
:
Defendant.
:
___________________________________

CIVIL ACTION NO.:
3:19-cv-1098 (KAD)
CLASS ACTION

June 5, 2020

DECLARATION OF ELIZABETH A. ANISKEVICH IN OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND MOTION TO DISMISS
AND IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY
JUDGMENT
I, Elizabeth A. Aniskevich, declare as follows:
1.

I am an attorney at AARP Foundation. I am admitted pro hac vice in this action.

2.

I am counsel of record for Plaintiffs Lisa Kwesell, Christine Turecek, and Jason

Schwartz (“Plaintiffs”). I submit this declaration in opposition to Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment and Motion to Dismiss and in Further Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment.
3.

The statements in this Declaration are true to the best of my knowledge,

information, and belief.
4.

Attached as exhibits to this Declaration are true and correct copies of documents

cited in Plaintiffs’ accompanying Memorandum of Law and Plaintiffs’ Rule 56(a)(2) Statement.
a. Attached as Exhibit K is a true and correct copy of the Declaration of Lisa
Kwesell in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion
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to Dismiss and in Further Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment.
b. Attached as Exhibit L is a true and correct copy of the Declaration of Christine
Turecek in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion
to Dismiss and in Further Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment.
c. Attached as Exhibit M is a true and correct copy of the Declaration of John
McFarland in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and
Motion to Dismiss and in Further Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment.
d. Attached as Exhibit N is a true and correct copy of excerpts from Yale
University’s Hourly Health Plan Pricing.1
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on this
5th day of June, 2020, at Washington, D.C.
/s/ Elizabeth A. Aniskevich
Elizabeth A. Aniskevich

1

Defendant, through its Counsel, consented to Plaintiffs publicly filing this document even
though it is marked CONFIDENTIAL.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 5th day of June, 2020, a copy of the foregoing was
electronically filed (and served by mail on anyone unable to accept electronic filing). Notice of
this filing will be sent by email to all parties by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system
(or by mail to anyone unable to accept electronic filing). Parties may access this filing through
the Court’s CM/ECF system.

/s/ Elizabeth A. Aniskevich
Elizabeth A. Aniskevich

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55-3 Filed 06/05/20 Page 1 of 2

EXHIBIT K
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT
___________________________________
LISA KWESELL; CHRISTINE
:
TURECEK; AND JASON SCHWARTZ, :
individually and on behalf all others
:
similarly situated,
:
: CIVIL ACTION NO. : 3:19-cv-1098 (KAD)
Plaintiffs,
:

v.
YALE UNIVERSITY,
Defendant.
___________________________________

: CLASS ACTION
:
:
:
:
: June 5, 2020

DECLARATION OF CHRISTINE TURECEK IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
MOTION TO DISMISS
I, Christine Turecek, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare as follows:
1. I am a plaintiff in the above-captioned lawsuit.
2. I am a first cook employed by Yale University, and I am member of UNITE HERE
Local 35.
3. I am insured by Yale’s group health plan, Aetna Select.
4. I am currently enrolled in and compliant with the Health Expectations Program (“HEP”
or the “Program”).
5. In 2019, I was selected for health coaching and I was required to speak with a health
coach to remain compliant with the HEP and to avoid the $25 dollar weekly penalty.
6. During my conversations with the health coach, I was never informed that I was not
required to answer the health coach’s questions.

Case 3:19-cv-01098-KAD Document 55-4 Filed 06/05/20 Page 3 of 3

I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

/s/ Christine Turecek
Christine Turecek
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EXHIBIT M
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT
___________________________________
LISA KWESELL; CHRISTINE
:
TURECEK; AND JASON SCHWARTZ, :
individually and on behalf all others
:
similarly situated,
:
: CIVIL ACTION NO. : 3:19-cv-1098 (KAD)
Plaintiffs,
:

v.
YALE UNIVERSITY,
Defendant.
___________________________________

: CLASS ACTION
:
:
:
:
: June 5, 2020

DECLARATION OF JOHN MCFARLAND IN SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
MOTION TO DISMISS
I, John McFarland, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare as follows:
1. My wife, Katie McFarland, is a member of UNITE HERE Local 34 and I am insured by
Yale’s group health plan, Aetna Select. As a result, I am subject to the requirements of
Yale’s Health Expectation Program (“HEP” or the “Program”).
2. I am currently in compliance with the HEP.
3. In connection with the HEP, I was selected for health coaching and required to speak
with a health coach to remain compliant with the HEP.
4. I have had several sessions with a health coach. During at least one session the health
coach asked which medication I was taking and the dosage.
5. The health coach did not identify which of her questions concerned genetic information
and which did not.
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6. Further, during my conversations with the health coach, I was never informed that I was
not required to answer the health coach’s questions.
I swear under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

/s/ John McFarland
John McFarland
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Local 34/35 and Security Contributions
Employee Only
Monthly
Premium

Yale Health
2020
2019
% change
$ change
Yale $ Support
Yale % Support
Aetna Select
2020
2019
% change
$ change
Yale $ Support
Yale % Support
Legacy Aetna POS
2020
2019
% change
$ change
Yale $ Support
Yale % Support

Total Monthly
Contribution

Employee + Child(ren)
Weekly
Contribution

Monthly
Premium

Total Monthly
Contribution

Employee + Spouse

Weekly
Contribution

Monthly
Premium

Total Monthly
Contribution

Family

Weekly
Contribution

Monthly
Premium

Total Monthly
Contribution

Weekly
Contribution

$904.00

$0.00

$0.00

$1,718.00

$0.00

$0.00

$1,898.00

$0.00

$0.00

$2,712.00

$0.00

$0.00

$852.00

$0.00

$0.00

$1,619.00

$0.00

$0.00

$1,790.00

$0.00

$0.00

$2,556.00

$0.00

$0.00

6.1%

n/a

n/a

6.1%

n/a

n/a

6.0%

n/a

n/a

6.1%

n/a

n/a

$52

$0

$0

$99

$0

$0

$108

$0

$0

$156

$0

$0

$904.00

$1,718.00

$1,898.00

$2,712.00

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

$1,142.00

$186.00

$42.92

$2,170.00

$353.00

$81.46

$2,398.00

$390.00

$90.00

$3,426.00

$557.00

$128.54

$1,064.00

$165.00

$38.08

$2,022.00

$313.00

$72.23

$2,234.00

$346.00

$79.85

$3,192.00

$495.00

$114.23

7.3%

12.7%

12.7%

7.3%

12.8%

12.8%

7.3%

12.7%

12.7%

7.3%

12.5%

12.5%

$78.00

$21.00

$4.84

$148.00

$40.00

$9.23

$164.00

$44.00

$10.15

$234.00

$62.00

$14.31

$956.00

$1,817.00

$2,008.00

$2,869.00

83.7%

83.7%

83.7%

83.7%

$1,670.00

$271.00

$62.54

$3,173.00

$452.00

$104.31

$3,507.00

$500.00

$115.38

$5,010.00

$714.00

$164.77

$1,556.00

$241.00

$55.62

$2,956.00

$399.00

$92.08

$3,267.00

$441.00

$101.77

$4,668.00

$630.00

$145.38

7.3%

12.4%

12.4%

7.3%

13.3%

13.3%

7.3%

13.4%

13.4%

7.3%

13.3%

13.3%

$114.00

$30.00

$6.92

$217.00

$53.00

$12.23

$240.00

$59.00

$13.61

$342.00

$84.00

$19.39

$1,399.00

$2,721.00

$3,007.00

$4,296.00

83.8%

85.8%

85.7%

85.7%

Notes:
1. Yale Health entrance fees not shown
2. HEP non-compliance fees not shown
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Exhibit 6^ Benefit Design of the Health Benefit Plans
Premium Contributions for Bargaining Unit Employees will be as follows:
A. Yale Health:
Coverage Level
Employee

Employee + Child[ren)
Employee + Spouse
Employee + Family_

2017

2018

$0
$0
$0
$0

2019

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

2020

$0
$0
$0
$0

2021

$0
$0
$0
$0

2022

$0
$0
$0
$0

B. Aetna Select (% of total premium):
Coverage Level

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

14%

14.75%

15.5%

16.25%

17%

17%

2022
17%
15%

Employee

Employee + Child[ren]
Employee + Spouse
Employee + Family

C. Aetna Legacy (% of total premium):
Coverage Level
Employee

Employee + Child(ren)
Employee + Spouse

2017
14%

2018

2019

2020

14.75%

15.5%

16.25%

2021
17%

12%

12.75%

13.5%

14.25%

15%

Employee + family

D. Yale Health Enrollment Fees (effective 1/21/2017);
The enrollment fees listed below apply only to bargaining unit employees hired on or after
January 21, 2017 who have not previously satisfied the enrollment fee requirements.
Coverage Level
Employee

Fee

Period

None

Employee + Child(ren)

$10

20 Weeks

Employee + Spouse or Employee + Family, and either:

$10

30 Weeks

[1st year)
[1st year)

a. Spouse without access to employer healthcare or

b. Spouse enrolled in healthcare at the spouse's employer
Employee + Spouse or Employee + Family, and:
a. Spouse with access to but not enrolled in healthcare at the

$12.50

50 Weeks
[per year)

spouse's employer
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E. Co-pays and fees for Bargaining Unit Employees will be as follows:

ifei r? i?ftH.!i i (ia>^^s>,l(iu) i7iy^
In-Network

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

$10

N/A
N/A

Deductible (S/F)
Coinsurance
Out-of-pocket limit

_N/A

Office Visits

$0

Preventive

$0

PCP & Mental Health
Specialist [including Urgent
Care]

$0

Referral required

Yes

$50

Emergency Room1
Urgent Care

$0

Hi-tech imaging [e.g., MRI, CT

$0

scan)

Late Cancellation/No Show

$70

$25

Penalty2

Hospital/lab/all other

$0

services

Rx

$5

$5

$20

$25

$s
$25

$5
$25

$10

II Alternative

$30

$30

Ill Non-preferred & Specialty

$35
2X

$40
2X

$40
2X

$43
2X

$so

$50

2X

2X

I Preferred

3 Month Mail/Yale Health'

DAW Rule: Any prescription that has a generic equivalent will automatically be substituted
Mandatory generics

by a generic equivalent unless the prescribing clinician indicates DAW and provides
documentation that the name-brand medication is medically necessary, in which case the
member will pay only the appropriate tier copay.

1. Emergency Room copay waived if admitted or referred by Yale Health
2. Applies to diagnostic imaging, endoscopy, Physical Therapy. Fee waived in cases of legitimate emergencies or cancelation 24 or
more hours in advance. Fee waived for first missed or late PT appointment.
3. Up to a 100-day supply
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